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BRAZIL

TOWN AND CITY.

The question of the incorporation of the town of Brazil was
submitted to the qualified citizens of the proposed site on the first day
of October, 1866. The advertisement of the election had been
published in the Brazil Independent and Home Weekly, and ten copies
of the notice had also been posted. Joseph T. Liston was at that time
president of board of commissioners, under whose direction the
election and the proceedings of incorporation took place.

On the morning designated, at nine o’clock, the legal voters began
assembling at. “the frame church on lot No. 6, Brackney’s addition,” to
the town of Brazil. Evelyn Montgomery was clerk of election. The
names of those who were qualified to vote on that day are a list of
charter citizens, which should be preserved. They were the following:

E. H. Hussey A. W. Knight M. V. McClure

J. H. Britton Charles Spears James R. Kennedy
A. J. Kidd C. Wagner Asa Thomas

J. W. Kidd J. W. Bridges E. D. Jones

J. C. Gifford H. M. Atkinson James B. Russell
W. N. McConnell Mark Bruffee Jeremiah Kirk
J. W. Wilson C. W. Reed Jacob Puff

E. S. Hussey G. A. Knight John Clyne

W. S. Crafton Albert Clyne Thomas Osborn
E. H. Post Uriah Stewart J. C. Willoughby
G. W. Kress Adam Storm J. Hendrix, Sr.
F. W. Armstrong S. S. Harris J. B. Richardson
Isaac Johnson S. Hollingsworth Albert Huffman
J. R. Rinewalt James Keeler William Haggart
J. W. Butt Asa Hadley John Harshmann
D. H. Larr S. E. Armstrong J. E. Brant

D. W. Bridges Henry Yocum N. M. McClure



A. C. Hunt

J. M. Bangs
Thomas Sarchett
H. Wheeler
Austin Elliott
Junius Hunt
Joel Earp
Joseph Haynes
A. Wright

A. Strachan

J. S. Vancuren
A. Bornstein

Timothy Donnehue

G. Baker
William Torbert
William E. Moore
Thomas Desart
A. McDonald

Brightwell Thompson

W. H. Cozine
Jesse Lehr
Lewis Brackney
C. Herbert
John Behan

M. L. Farlow

E. Montgomery
I. W. Sanders
I. M. Compton
J. W. Kidd

A. J. McCullough

W. C. Riley
W. M. Westfall
John Stough
M. Rodenberger
F. Gardner
W. P. Richardson
C. W. Clark
Mark Parkins
John H. Torbert
H. S. Fletcher
G. P. Shaw
A. Faulkner
Henry Hendrix
J. T. Vanhise
John Hendrix, Jr.
William Black

Freeman Conklin

Henry Conklin

J. Mintor
B. F. Givan
John Yates
George Beahan
Samuel Tatam
J. Robinson
J. Croasdale
Paul Rodenberger
John Moore
Thomas Henderson
Henry Males

Joseph Coleman

J. B. Allison
Albert Kelsey
F. L. Wheeler
T. M. Robertson
R. M. Hollingsworth
Aaron Reed
M. 1. Reed
A. Pilling
David Oliver
James Stunkard
E. Willoughby
James Moran
Elias Diel
George Reed
J. G. Ackelmire
J. C. Plannett
William Lumes
Oliver Allen
Calvin Reed
J. M. Southers
William Lumher
Eli Hendrix
W. H. Gifford
A. S. Hill
D. M. Keeler
Samuel Gonter
J. A. Michaelru
Peter Ehrlich
Jeff Baughmann
H. Michaelree



The record reads that one hundred and twenty-two of these voted
for incorporation, and nine against. Allowing for some slight error in
this record, it is evident that the large majority of citizens were in
favor of incorporating the town.

The town was soon afterward divided into three election districts,
the township line and Meridian street being the north and south
dividing lines. The first town election was held at the office of Isaac M.
Compton, December 18, 1866. Three trustees, a school trustee, clerk,
treasurer, assessor and marshal were the officials voted for. John G.
Ackelmire, Jacob Thomas and Thomas Desart were the first board of
town trustees, and the other officials chosen at this election were the
following: Evelyn Montgomery, school trustee; Eli Hendrix, treasurer;
D. W. Bridges, clerk; Samuel Hollingsworth, assessor and marshal.

The changing of the name National Road to Main street was
officially prescribed in an ordinance (No. 9), passed February 21,
1867. The same ordinance gave the name Factory street to as much of
the county road between Dick Johnson and Van Buren townships as lay
in the corporate limits. (Factory street has since become Forest
avenue.) The street between the railroad and the National Road had
been known up to this time as Middle street, but the ordinance
directed that its name should thereafter be Jackson street.

The next ordinance (No. i0), which named and defined the width of
streets in the town corporation, mentioned the following streets: Main,

Jackson, Knight, Desart, Atlantic, Sherman, Grant, Depot, Meridian,
Lincoln, Franklin, Walnut, Center, Washington, Factory, Cass, Lambert,
Front, Church, Methodist, McDonald, Morton.

The first noteworthy street improvement in Brazil was the grading
of Main street from Franklin to Sherman, as called for in the ordinance
of June 14, 1870. The street was to be cut down and graded according
to a uniform grade, and a layer of cinders or pounded stone was to be
spread over it. Fire limits were established by the ordinance of August,
1870, when the construction of wooden buildings on Main street, from
Center to Depot street, and for a distance of fifty feet on either side,
was hence-forth made unlawful.

Among the early ordinances of the town trustees of Brazil was one
concerning the observance of the Sabbath day. Practically every town
has or has had so-called “blue laws” on its statute books, expressive of
the moral sentiment of the majority regarding secular conduct on
Sunday, though prosecutions for their violation have been rare. The
paragraph of the ordinance passed by the town board in 1866, relating
to this subject, is as follows:



“If any person of the age of fourteen years or upwards shall be
found on the first day of the week, commonly called Sunday, engaged
at common labor, or their usual avocations (works of charity or
necessity only excepted) within the limits of the corporation, such
person shall be fined not less than one dollar nor more than ten
dollars.”

The report of the town treasurer for the year from May 16, 1867, to

June 1, 1868, covers the first full year of Brazil’s corporate existence.
Its items are as follows:

Liquor licenses .................. $ 200.00
ShOWS..oiiiiiii i 13.00
Fines...ovvviiiiii s 19.00
Peddlers.......ccccovviiivnnnnnnn. 27.75
Auctions......ccvvviiiiiiiians 13.00
TaAXeS. i iiiiiiiiiiii e 790.86
Balance at last report............ 132.57
Total..ooovieiiiie $1196.18

Town orders to the amount of $826.55 were paid, and the total
expenses for that year were $829.80, leaving a balance in the town
treasury of $366.38.

The last report of the treasurer for the town of Brazil, before the
inception of the city government (March, 1873), reads as follows, its
total amount and the different items of receipts and expenditures
being an index of Brazil’'s growth during the five or six years of town
government:

RECEIPTS.

Balance on hand May, 1872................ $1842.22
Justices’ fines........ccvvvieiiininnnnn. 118.00
Delinquent taxes........ccvevvvvvinnen. 425.30
TaAXES. it iiiiii i 3457.84

Sale of bonds (school)................... 1600.00

LiCeNSE taX. oo iviiiiiiiiiiiiiiienninnns 1474.24



EXPENDITURES.

Town officers........ccvvvvnnns $ 463.00
Election expenses............... 45.75
School bonds and coupons........ 3760.00
Jacob Thomas interest............ 61.52
Printing.....cccooevvviinnnnnnnn. $ 33.40
Labor and lumber................. 333.16
Merchandise for town............. 73.35
Building schoolhouse............. 423.00

J. R. Painter............cceethi. 943.75

Garlick and Collins (for cinders) 512.86

C. A. Knight, services........... 40.00
Hauling dead animals............. 40.10
Percent on disbursement.......... 177.99
Balance on hand.................. 1991.71
Total..ooovviiiiiiiies $8899.59

By 1873 the town of Brazil had a population of three thousand.
Those who remember the town of that date can recall few
improvements that had been undertaken or completed by the
corporation which could be considered noteworthy in the history of
municipal progress. The most important town institution, and the only
one which had cost more money than the regular revenues had been
unequal to meet, was the town school. The nucleus of the school
system had been established during the existence of the town
corporation. Some attention had been given to the improvement of
Main street, a layer of cinders having been spread over the natural
road-bed. This was in the nature of an improvement, but on the whole
the streets of the town were extremely muddy in the wet seasons and
dusty in dry weather. Some sidewalk ordinances had been passed by
the town trustees, and along the principal streets were board walks



and a few flag-stone walks. Most of the crossings were still constructed
of boards. Except for the voluntary efforts of the citizens, there was no
fire protection. Not even fire cisterns had been provided. The question
of public sanitation had not yet risen. Garbage disposal was by
primitive methods, and the rain waters were drained from the streets
by surface ditches, or often collected in pools and remained until
evaporated by sun and wind.

With a population of three thousand people, and with the
beginnings of some important industries and other promises of growth
and civic expansion, the agitation for a city charter during the winter
of

1872-73 was opportune and met with little opposition. It was argued
that the code of laws governing cities was vastly superior to that pro-
vided for incorporated towns, and that under the town system it would
be impossible for Brazil to develop municipally and receive the benefits
to which it was entitled by reason of its commercial advantages. The
city charter, it was urged, was necessary to the establishment of
adequate water and sewerage facilities and fire protection, and it was
also claimed that the new form of government would not raise taxes,
on which ground the principal objections to the charter were raised.

The town board, in response to the campaign for city government,
after deciding that the population within the corporate limits was
sufficient as required by law, fixed the day of election for the voters to
choose or reject the proposition on March 3, 1873. So little
antagonism had developed toward the movement, that the total vote
cast on that day was small, and was in favor of city incorporation more
than six to one. The detailed vote was as follows:

Wards— Yes. No.
First. i 43 8
1ST=Tole] 3 [e [ 32 8
Third...oooveiiiii s 60 4
Fourth........ooovvviiiiiiinnns 44 4
Fifthe oo 98 19



The first division of Brazil into wards after the adoption of city
government made the boundaries of the three wards as follows: The
first contained all the incorporated territory east of Lambert street; the
second was all the territory between Lambert and Meridian streets;
and the third was the territory between Meridian and the west side of
the corporation.

The demand for fire protection led to the establishment of a water-
works system. When the city council held their meeting on November

5, 1874, regular business was suspended in order to give the citizens
an opportunity to express their opinions relative to the establishment
of adequate fire protection. The discussion led to the appointment of a
committee to visit other cities and inquire about the merits of the
different methods of fighting fires and the kinds of apparatus in use. A
part of the council and some citizens were in favor of purchasing a
chemical engine, but the motion when presented to the council was
voted down. This was followed by the appointment of a committee to
obtain the consensus of opinion among citizens and business men as
to the kind of apparatus, whether a pumping engine or chemical
extinguisher, which was needed. The result of the canvass revealed
that the great majority of the citizens were in favor of the
establishment of a system of water works. This report was made in
December 1874. At the final meeting of the year a petition from 280
citizens, requesting that the council take appropriate measures toward
the establishment of water works, was fol- lowed by the adoption of a
resolution for the construction of the plant.

The water works ordinance (ordinance No. 79), which went into
effect January 29, 1875, gave to the common council “power to enter
upon and condemn lands and materials within and without the city
limits for the purpose of building and constructing a reservoir and
engine house, laying and fitting pipes and digging wells and pools, and
for all other purposes connected with the construction and
establishment of water works to supply the city of Brazil with
wholesome water.”

By the ordinance (No. 89) of May 20, 1875, provisions were made
for a bond issue, the proceeds to become the “water works fund.” This
issue was to be fifty bonds of $500 denomination, interest payable
semi- annually at nine per cent, the first ten bonds maturing 16 years
from date, and the same number to mature annually thereafter until
all were cancelled. The ordinance also constituted the members of the
council, ex-officio, a water works board, to contract for and purchase
all the real estate, machinery and materials and labor needed in the
construction and maintenance of the water works.



The site for the reservoir was purchased on the land adjacent to
the creek just west of the cemetery. By the construction of a dam a
large volume of water was hemmed in by the rising ground on all
sides, and yet the flood area was not so large that the reservoir was
exposed to the contamination of humerous sources, and by
safeguarding the sup- ply through the creation of what might he
termed a “sanitary district” around the pond the most favorable
possible conditions were created to afford usable water for domestic
purposes.

The city made separate contracts for the construction of the
reservoir and the pumping station, the purchase of the machinery, and
all the works necessary to the establishment of the plant, so that in
every sense it was a municipal undertaking.

Before the end of the summer the plant was built, the mains laid
through the principal streets of the city, and in August the citizens
were for the first time treated with the spectacle of water forced from
the end of a hose with sufficient power to prove an effective weapon in
fighting fire. The Enterprise, in the issue of August 26th, says: “On
Mon- day our streets were crowded to witness the first test of our
water works.

Water was thrown from fire plugs at the same time through inch
and a quarter nozzles, at Main and Depot and at Main and Meridian
streets, a mile from the works, over one hundred and fifty feet.” The
newly organized hose company also paraded through the street, and
gave a pleasing impression of their effectiveness in fighting fires.

On September 4th occurred the water-works celebration. It was
also the occasion of an old settlers’ picnic, and people gathered from
coun- try and town to enjoy the events of the day. The band played,
the Green- castle fire department arrived to be guests of honor, and
after a demonstration at various points in town of the water pressure
and a drill of the hose company, the procession went first to inspect
the pumping station, and thence to the fair grounds, where the
pioneer celebration concluded the ceremonies of one of Brazil’s red
letter days.

For about thirty years the water works service of Brazil was an
object of opprobrium to the majority of the citizens. The trouble lay in
the water supply, and the experience of this city has been repeated in
large degree by most municipalities that have tried the reservoir
system on a comparatively small scale. Cities that have been able to
draw their water from high mountain ponds, or that have revenues
sufficient to condemn large bodies of land and thus safeguard every
contributing source, have usually succeeded in securing wholesome



water. But under the most favorable conditions the water that came
from the pond west of Brazil did not measure up to the ordinary
standards for water for domestic uses. When taken from the hydrants
it was generally discolored, would precipitate a sediment when allowed
to settle, and its appearance was such that even when pronounced
free from dangerous organic matter the average housewife preferred
well water for her cooking. A collection of the various experiences and
opinions relating to the city water would make an interesting exhibit.

Finally, about twenty years after the first establishment of the sys-
tem, the city council undertook to reconstruct the plant and procure
another supply of water. It was resolved to penetrate to the gravel
beds which lie at various depths below the surface, and through a
battery of tubular wells, eight in number, to suck up the waters that
flow over these gravel beds. To carry out this object a twenty-five
thousand dollar bond issue (six per cent, 20 year bonds, dated May
21, 1895) was ordered, and at the same time the city contracted with
the Howe Pump and Engine Company to reconstruct the water works,
sinking the tubular wells, installing new compound condensing
engines, new boilers, new water mains, the entire contract to be
performed by October 1, 1895. The cost was $29,153.68, but at the
final settlement with the contracting company in the spring of 1896,
the city paid several thousand dollars more for additions and extras.
The reconstructed water works were highly satisfactory for a time. The
water was clear and pure, and the new machinery gave a higher
pressure for fire purposes. The failure of the new system was due to
the fact that the tubular wells became clogged at the lower ends and
were soon rendered useless. As a result, resort was had to the old
reservoir, and it is only within the last two or three years that a means
has been found to overcome the old difficulty with the wells. Since that
time Brazil has had a supply of good water, and its water works can
now be classed among the best in the state. A striking test of its
adequacy was furnished in the dry summer of 1908, when many cities
of Indiana suffered water famine. In Brazil the supply showed no signs
of failing, and no restrictions were placed upon the liberal use of the
water for all ordinary purposes.

Some items from the report of the superintendent of water works,
Mr. G. A. Fletcher, for the year ending December 31, 1908, will be of
present and future interest. For the first year since the establishment
of the water works, the system had not incurred a deficit. The total
receipts of the department for the year were a little in excess of ten
thou- sand dollars, while the total operating expenses were $6,708,
which, with the cost of extensions and improvements, brought the
total disbursements for the year to $9,503, making a balance for the



department of a little over $500. The report also shows that the total
amount of water pumped during the year was 188,535,600 gallons, or
a little over half a million gallons a day. The cost to the city of
pumping this water is estimated at three and one-half cents per
thousand gallons. The total length of water mains is placed at 10.8
miles, and there are 98 fireplugs.

The school city of Brazil is at the present time one of the largest
institutions, considered merely from a business point of view, in the
city and county, its revenues and expenditures being as large as some
of the principal industrial concerns. The annual payroll for the teachers
in the year 1907-08 was $28,239.84, and the capital represented in
the six school buildings and their equipment estimated at $146,000.

While this represents the financial side, it is of greater importance
to notice that the total enrollment in the schools of the city (including
the parochial school) at the present time is 2,048 (260 of whom are in
the parochial school). The schools of the city thus give their
advantages to nearly a fourth of the total population. No other
institution comes into such close relations to so large a proportion of
the people, and the growth of the schools reflects not only the increase
in population, but the progress of the people in broader ideals of
intellectual and civic efficiency.

The oldest school in the city, the one which was attended by the
fathers and mothers of many of the children of this time, is the
Meridian street school. The north half of this building, with its bell
tower, was built about 1868, soon after the town was incorporated.
The first bonded debt ever incurred by the town board was for the
purpose of erecting this building. In May, 1868, the board authorized
the issue of ten thousand dollars in bonds, drawing ten per cent
interest (which was a not extravagant rate for that time).

The first schoolhouse built after the incorporation of the city was the
Lambert Street School, erected in 1875, a two-story brick building,
with a bell tower, which at the time was considered a first—class
building, and which is still used as one of the grade schools. A bond
issue of $13,000 provided the money for this building. A few years
later the Jackson Street School was built (afterwards remodeled).
Since then the south addition has been placed on the Meridian school,
the Pinckley Street School has been built, and in 1906 the Alabama
street four-room grade school and the handsome high school on North
Washington Street were completed. The high school building is one of
the best examples of public and business buildings in the city, costing,
with equipment, $47,000.



Within the last few years the Brazil high school has attained a place
of credit among similar institutions throughout the state. It is among
the accredited and commissioned high schools of the state, has a
faculty of thirteen instructors and an enrollment of 308 scholars. The
cost of instruction and of apparatus and equipment for the year closing
in 1908 was $9,230. The entire teaching force in the Brazil city schools
numbers 53, besides the superintendent, Mr. C. C. Coleman, who has
been at the head of the school system for the past two years.

Closely allied to the schools in its influence upon the intellectual and
esthetic life of the community is the Public Library, which was built in
1903 as a result of the co-operation of the tax-payers of the city with
the wide-spread philanthropy of Andrew Carnegie. The latter provided
the money for the erection of the building after those interested in the
library had raised the necessary funds by private subscription and the
city council had voted the tax prescribed by the Library law, enacted a
few years previously.

The donation of $25,000 was secured from Mr. Carnegie in 1902, on
condition that the city should provide a suitable site and raise by
annual levy two thousand dollars a year for the support of the library.
The city authorities accepted this gift, and in order to secure the
proper site vacated a portion of Methodist Street, at the intersection of
Walnut, and also bought ground on the north side of the former street,
paying twenty- five hundred dollars for the site. The annual levy for
library purposes is six cents on the hundred dollars, this being the limit
of such taxation, as fixed by law.

A word should also be said of the old City Library Association, which
for many years supplied the only library advantages available except
to those who possessed generous private collections of books. The City
Library Association, which was in the nature of a joint stock company,
a sort of co-operative book society, was organized in February, 1879,
beginning with forty stockholders. The original sum expended for
books was $107, with which 81 volumes were purchased. At a very
early day in the history of Brazil had existed a McClure Library and
Mechanics Institute, a practical benevolence that has been almost
forgotten. Mr. McClure was a wealthy resident of the old Harmony
community, in southern Indiana, who had left a considerable sum of
money to be used in founding these institutes. The bequest was
conditioned upon each local society’s establishing a library for the
benefit of the members, the money given by Mr. McClure being
expended for lectures. It was thus in the nature of a lecture course
and study club. Such an institution was maintained at Brazil for some
years, and after it had ceased to exist the collection of books had
remained, and was eventually turned over to the Library Association.



By these means the Association’s library grew and numbered over a
thousand volumes at one time. The early condition of the streets, as to
pavement and drainage, has been referred to. The younger generation
of citizens can remember the discomforts of that time. It is one of the
most pleasant features of this municipal history that Brazil can now be
spoken of as a city of well-improved streets. The last report of the
engineering department estimates that nine and a half miles of the
streets are surfaced with brick pavement. There are no better streets
than these to be found in any city. About a third of the streets of the
city are brick paved, while a large proportion of the remainder are
covered with a gravel or cinder surface. Also, the city has
approximately forty miles of sidewalks: 32.2 miles of cement walks;
6.3 of stone walks, and 1.4 of brick. In earlier years the stone flagging
was the favorite material for sidewalks, but in the past ten years the
cement walk has become the usual type. A feature not often seen is
the impression, at street corners, of the names of the intersecting
streets in the pavement, these being almost the only means for
displaying street names. At the present time about three-fourths of the
city has the benefits of the sanitary sewerage system. There are 11.7
miles of vitrified pipe sewers and 1.1 miles of cement sewers (these
figures covering both storm and sanitary sewers).

The improvements mentioned in the above paragraph are in the
class of “special improvements.” Though constructed under the super-
vision of the city, their cost is assessed mainly against the adjacent
property owners, being paid for by special assessments.

A paragraph in the Enterprise in May, 1886, stated that there was
“not a rod of gravel road in the county nor a rod of decent street in the
city. We here go on from year to year hauling cinders on our streets
and hauling them off at the rate of two off to one on.” A similar
indictment of the state of public improvements was contained in the
nature of a prophecy, in the same paper, in October, 1893: “Five years
hence,” declared the writer, “Brazil will have no fish ponds in its
streets after the rain, the sidewalks will be clean and smooth, the
alleys wide and odorless and free from boxes and all sorts of rubbish.
Garbage will be hauled from the city limits instead of piled in back
yards, sewers will drain the streets of their mucky accumulations, and
the water supply will be adequate. The little one-story buildings on
Main Street will be supplanted with modern business blocks, street
cars will be running, etc.”

At the time it was written the prophecy was in way of fulfillment. A
streetcar line was at that time in process of construction on Main
Street. On June 20, 1893, the council had authorized the paving with
brick of Main Street, though it was not until the following year that the



pavement was laid. This was the first paved street, but others
followed, and this class of improvement has been going on every year
since. In 1895 and 1896 plans were authorized by the council for the
paving of Meridian street and also part of Church street. In 1895
specifications were drawn for the construction of a brick sewer along
Walnut street, from Main to Birch creek. This was essentially a storm
sewer, but it may be considered the beginning of the sewer system of
the city.

The lighting of the streets has always been provided by private
enterprise. The Brazil Electric Light Company, of which J. E. Sherfey
was president and George A. Byrd secretary, built a plant and began
supplying electricity for lighting purposes to private homes and
business houses in 1885. The city at that time was embarrassed for
revenue, and did not accept the proposition of the company to supply
streetlights until the following year. At the present time the city pays
over six thousand dollars a year for the lighting of its streets and
public buildings.

The words of the prophecy above quoted might indicate that Main
street was at the time lined on both sides with one-story blocks that
were entirely inconsistent with the business enterprise of the city. In
the past fifteen years the improvement of the business architecture of
the city has transformed this street so that, as a whole, it could hardly
be recognized, and yet there are some well known and substantial
landmarks still standing that were the pride of the business district of
twenty or thirty years ago. Perhaps foremost among these would be
the First National Bank building on the southwest corner of Meridian
and Main, a three-story brick building that has stood while the city was
growing from its three thousand to ten thousand population. Near by,
the two—story Kruzan block was erected in 1877 .At Walnut on the
south side of Main are the Croasdale three-story block, built in 1887,
and the George A. Knight block, erected the following year. The old
Masonic building, at the corner of Sherfey, is also one of the older
blocks.

The north side of Main Street. has been practically rebuilt within
the past ten years. The first conspicuous business structure here is the
Davis Hotel block, completed early in 1902, and about three years
later the Aver-McCarel block, and the handsome Citizens Bank
building, which may be said to have completed the reconstruction
which was prophesied by the Enterprise. The Sourwine Opera House
block should also be mentioned among the modern business
structures.



In its public buildings, Brazil has both the old and the new. The
courthouse is the one, which was built after the removal of the county
seat to Brazil. The city hall is one of the old residences remodeled for
civic uses. The public library was erected in 1903, and the Masonic
Temple, built in 1907, is one of the best buildings of its kind in the
state.

It is estimated that the nine large clay-working plants about Brazil
give employment to over eleven hundred men. A population of about
five thousand thus gains its chief daily support from this industry.
Nearly one-half the people of the city of Brazil are brought into this
close relationship with the business of manufacturing clay products. If
we add to the clay workers those who are employed in the coalmines
immediately adjacent to the city, we can account for the regular
occupations which give the necessities and comforts of life to fully half
of the inhabitants. Outside of these two industries there is no single
line of business, which compares in importance. There are several
manufacturing concerns, one of the leading ones being the Brazil
Fence Company, but the mechanical trades, the professions, and the
mercantile establishments embrace practically all the money-earning
vocations except the two first mentioned.

The nine clay industries are located in a circle about the city of
Brazil, none of them more than two miles away. The principal products
of these factories, which are marketed in nearly all the states of the
Union, though largely within a radius of two hundred miles, consist of
building brick of the finer grades, of paving brick, of conduits, of sewer
pipe, and of miscellaneous clay products, including jars, crocks, stone
pumps, etc.

The most remarkable feature of the business from the historical
standpoint is that it has developed within less than twenty years. The
manufacture of brick and some other clay products has been carried
on here for the past fifty years, but up to twenty years ago, perhaps,
with the exception of the Weaver tile and pump works, the business
was only local, and in comparison with the coal business was
insignificant. The report of the department of statistics for 1886
mentioned two clay-working establishments in Clay county, the
amount invested in the plants being $1,000, the value of the annual
output as $12,000, and the number of employees, 20. Since 1890 the
clay industry has become vastly larger than the coal mining, and
Brazil’s importance in the manufacturing world is now measured in the
output of its clay works. A careful estimate places the amount of
invested capital at from $1,200,000 to $1,500,- 000, while in wages
the monthly payroll approximates $45,000, or about half a million
dollars a year. The marketed output can only be roughly estimated,



but it can be stated in reason that every day in the year a train of
about thirty-five cars, loaded with brick, sewer pipe, tile, etc., leaves
Brazil for the markets of the middle west, and some of the cars go to
the Atlantic coast, and recently a shipment of brick went to Oregon.

Besides the clay-manufacturing plants there are also several clay-
mining companies of this vicinity, which are engaged in mining the
shales and clay and shipping the raw materials to distant points for
manufacture. The nine large day factories of the Brazil district are as
follows: The Hydraulic-Press Brick Company, the McRoy Clay Works,
the Sheridan Brick Works, a branch of the American Sewer Pipe Com-
pany, the Brazil Clay Company, the Indiana Paving Brick Company, the
Chicago Sewer Pipe Company, the Continental Clay and Mining
Company and the Weaver Clay and Coal Company.

The Hydraulic-Press Brick Company, which is considered the largest
of the clay plants at Brazil, was formerly the Ayer-McCarel Clay Com-
pany, which was founded in 1902 and began operations in February,
1903. The original owners were J. V. Ayer, W. L. McCarel and Daniel
Reagan. The business was sold to the present company in March,
1906. The principal officials of the present company are F. G.
Middlehaupt, president and general manager, Ralph Simpkins, vice
president and secretary, George F. Baker, treasurer, all of St. Louis,
and H. A. Walters, who is fourth vice-president and manager of the
Brazil branch.  This plant, which is located on the Meridian street
road about a mile north of Main Street, is equipped with the most
modern machinery in brick manufacture. It has twelve round and four
rectangular kilns. The shale and clay is taken from a pit adjacent to
the works. The average number of employees is about 175, and the
monthly payroll about seven thousand dollars. The output is 60,000
brick per day, or 1500 cars a year. The original company
manufactured hollow block, conduits, chimney blocks and kindred
ware, but the present company makes a specialty of “impervious
vitrified face brick,” though also making in limited quantities chimney
blocks and similar ware.

The McRoy Clay Works in 1900 purchased the site and plant of the
old Brazil Brick and Pipe Company, north of the city and just west of
the C. & E. I. Railroad. The new company reconstructed the old plant
and made extensions that placed it among the largest manufacturers
of clay products in the state. Its special products are electric conduits,
which have been used in practically all the large cities of the United
States, being shipped as far as Oregon. Hollow building blocks are also
manufactured.



The Brazil Brick and Pipe Company was organized in June, 1890, by
W. L. McCarel, D. W. Mathias, John H. Taylor. J. V. Ayer and H. B.
McMillan later become associated with the business, and its
management was largely in the hands of these men until Mr. John T.
McRoy purchased the plant in 1900. In 1902 the business came into
the hands of the present company, whose officers are A. W. Beidler,
president, E. R. Beidler, vice president, and L. M. Christie, secretary-
treasurer. The two latter reside at Brazil. The monthly payroll of this
industry is about $6,500, distributed among 150 employees. The
output is about 100 car- loads (or 2500 tons) a month, and there are
29 kilns.

One mile northwest of the city is the Brazil plant of the American
Sewer Pipe Company, which has numerous factories in other states.
This plant was originally established by the Monarch Sewer Pipe
Company. The clay for manufacture is taken principally from beneath a
vein of block coal, which is mined by this company. and used in
burning the clay and shales that enter into the manufacture of the
sewer pipe and similar wares made at this plant.

The Monarch plant was built in 1894, and at first had four kilns and
about 25 employees. Under the present management about thirty kilns
are in constant operation, and it is probably the largest plant for
making sewer pipe in the state. The main offices of the corporation are
at Pittsburg, and only a local manager resides at Brazil.

The Chicago Sewer Pipe Company, on the E. & I. Railroad, one mile
southwest of the city, was one of the first large clay industries to
locate in the Brazil district. It began making sewer pipe in 1893, and
for many years its product has been shipped almost entirely to
Chicago. The burning of a kiln of sewer pipe is of daily occurrence,
there being over a dozen kilns in the plant. It is said that the members
of the Chicago Sewer Pipe Company investigated the clays of Iowa,
Illinois and Indiana before locating their plant at this place, and chose
Brazil because of the superior quality of the clay and for its excellent
fuel and transportation facilities.

The output of this plant is about 1200 cars annually. About 75 men
are on the payroll, which amounts to about $3500 a month. Fifteen
kilns are in operation. The original promoters of this company were
George Page of Jackson, Michigan, and William Joyce of Chicago.

The Standard Pottery Company, whose plant is conducted in
connection with the Chicago Sewer Pipe Company, was for some years
considered the largest stoneware factory in the state. Jugs, jars,
crocks, churns, fruit jars, water coolers, etc., were the chief output of
this plant. This factory has not been in operation for several years.



The oldest paving-brick plant in the state is the Indiana Paving
Brick Co. of Brazil. The first vitrified brick and block were made by the
company in 1891, and three years later it furnished the material for
the first street paving in Brazil. The product since that time has
reached proportions that are not readily comprehended in mere
figures, and from the beginning this has been more than a local
industry. Many cities and towns of the state have their streets paved
with the bricks made at this plant, and the product has gone by
trainloads to Louisville, Cincinnati and other cities beyond the state
borders.  The plant is in the western part of the city just north of the
Vandalia Railroad. The raw material was formerly obtained altogether
from the shale deposits near the intersection of the C. & E. I. Railroad
and Otter creek, north of Brazil, but in recent years beds have been
opened nearer to the works. The output averages 50,000 brick a day,
or about 150 carloads a month, 24 kilns being operated. The average
number of employees is 100, and the monthly payroll is nearly $5,000.

This business was established as the Brazil Fire Brick and Sewer
Pipe Company, the principal promoters being J. M., J. E. and David
McDowell of Columbus, Ohio, and W. E. Rhodes and John G. Prendi-
grast of Indianapolis, For the past ten years the plant has been owned
by W. W. Winslow of Indianapolis. P. M. Hildebrand is manager and
Walter Acheson is local superintendent.

The Weaver Clay and Coal Company was established by D. W.
Weaver, in 1872. For many years it was popularly known as the pump
and tile factory, being the only industry of that kind and hence needing
no more distinctive title. Drain tile was one of its products from the
beginning, but in the manufacture of stone pumps this plant held a
unique position among Brazil industries. The entire pump, except
handle, bolts and suckers, was made of vitrified fire clay, and it is said
that some of these pumps have been in use about Brazil for over thirty
years. In more recent years the company gave its attention to the
manufacture of hollow building blocks. The location of the plant is
about a mile east of Brazil, and just north of the National Road.  The
Continental Clay and Mining Company was established in 1903-04,
beginning manufacture in the latter year. Its large plant is located two
miles southeast of Brazil, the three-story building being con- structed
of hollow block, and the equipment being of the latest types of clay
working machinery. Its product is hollow building blocks and kindred
wares, using under clays for its raw material.

This company was organized by G. Stevenart, William Graves, and
Charles Shannon, of Brazil, with Chicago associates. With about forty
employees and a monthly payroll of about three thousand dollars, it



has been one of the large factors in the clay-working industry of this
City.

The Brazil Clay Company was established in 1905. Their plant,
which was built new and has not yet been, completed to the capacity
which its owners have planned, is located about a mile west of the
water works. Its product is “impervious face brick,” for building pur-
poses, and the present capacity of the sixteen kilns is 50,000 brick, or
five carloads a day. Seventy-five men are employed, and the monthly
payroll is about four thousand dollars. The clay is mined through a
shaft from, a depth of 110 feet. Some of the output of this plant has
been shipped as far as New Hampshire, Denver and Canada.

The company at its organization consisted of William M. Zeller,
president, Joseph Martin, vice president, W. J. Snyder, secretary-
treasurer, and A. R. Zimmerman, manager. J. H. McClelland has since
become vice president, and Thomas S. Rouse, manager.

The Sheridan Brick Works, north of Brazil, near the C. & E. 1.
Railroad, were established in 1898. This is the principal plant at Brazil
for the making of ordinary building brick, the raw materials being shale
and the surface clays. The industry from the beginning has been more
than a local factory, and a large part of the brick made is shipped to
the Indianapolis market. The annual output of this plant is between
1500 and 2000 carloads, and the monthly wages paid to nearly a
hundred employees averages about $4,000. At an earlier day the
business and industry of Brazil was much more diversified, though in
the aggregate much less important, than at present. In 1886 the
business interests of the city were thus summarized: Brazil has a
population of five thousand, has one rolling mill, one smelting furnace,
two flour mills, a foundry, boiler and iron bridge works, two planning
mills, four lumber yards, two carriage shops, wagon works, a pottery,
two brick yards, pump and tile factory, two private banks, electric light
plant, three school houses, and Methodist, Presbyterian, Christian,
Catholic, United Brethren, German Lutheran, German Methodist and
Colored Methodist churches.

This summary, published in one of the newspapers, did not take
account of the coal industry, which was then the leading one in the
county. A conspicuous place in the industry of the city was then
occupied by the Central Iron and Steel Company, whose plant was
located in the western part of the city, near the C. & E.I. Railroad. This
company was organized in 1882, by a syndicate of Indianapolis and
Chicago capital with local interests represented by the following
persons: Major Collins, who was president of the company, W. C. Hall,



the secretary, and C. S. Andrews, J. G. Bryson, J. F. Sherfey and
Edward Wilton.

The nucleus of the industry was the blast furnace of the old
Indianapolis Furnace and Mining Company, which was established in
1867-68, but was in operation only a few months.* After the
organization of the new company, in addition to the manufacture of
pig-iron from the native ores, a rolling mill was established and
different iron and steel products were manufactured. At one time the
industry employed about two hundred men, and the monthly payroll
was the largest single item in the current resources of the city. The
block coal of this vicinity provided a very important element for the
manufacture of iron and steel. But in the last twenty years, since the
iron mines of the Lake Superior region were made available to the
furnaces of the United States, it has become unprofitable to use the
native ores, and practically all the furnaces that depended on that
class of ores have long since gone out of blast.

From its beginning as a center of population, Brazil has had a
strong religious life. It is not a city of churches in the meaning that the
church activities are the predominating distinction of the place. But
most of the denominations are represented here, and around some of
the older churches have grown up the strongest associations and
social influences of the city.

The largest church in the city is the First Methodist, which
originated among the settlers living there in the thirties. Several
church buildings preceded the present splendid edifice, which is the
most commodious and finest example of church architecture in Brazil.
When Brazil became a city the Methodists were still worshiping in a
frame building. In January 1878, they dedicated Hendrix Chapel, which
was a fine brick church for that time, costing $12,000. The present
church was built in 1900. It is claimed that the Sunday school of this
church is the largest and most flourishing in the state of Indiana. At
the Easter celebration in 1907 the total enrollment of the school was
placed at 2509, so that, approximately, one person out of four in the
total population of the city was connected with the school. The
membership of the church is about one thousand, and in the
aggregate of contributions to church and charity work and in the active
work of the organization and the strong influence on the individual
members, this church ranks among the foremost of this denomination
in the state. Rev. J. N. Greene has been the pastoral leader of the
church during these years of its greatest prosperity. Mr. W. E.
Carpenter is superintendent of the Sunday school.



The Presbyterian Church is likewise one of the older religious
bodies of the city. When the church was organized here in 1858, or
soon afterward, there existed a group of the Old-School Presbyterians.
These two bodies united about 1865. The first church house of the
regular organization was erected on what was known as lot 6,
Brackney’s addition to the town of Brazil, and it was in this frame
church that the citizens, in October, 1866, cast their votes for the
incorporation of the town. The brick church which is still used by this
congregation was erected about 1875, at a cost of $7,000, and is
probably the oldest church edifice in regular use in the city.

The First Christian church was organized about the same time as
the Presbyterian, in 1858, but did not grow for a number of years and
was finally reorganized in 1877. Their first church was erected on
Washington Street in 1880-81, being dedicated in the latter year, and
cost about $3,000. In 1900 a new brick church was built at a cost of
$25,000. Fire destroyed this building on February 5, 1905, leaving
only the walls standing. It was rebuilt the same year on a larger plan,
and is one of the most modern church homes in Brazil.

The Catholic church of the Annunciation had its origin about 1868.
After being organized the following year, it bought the old building
formerly occupied by the branch of the Presbyterian Church which has
already been mentioned, and moving the building to Lambert street
used it for a house of worship about ten years. The present church,
which occupies a site at the corner of Lambert and Church streets, was
begun in 1879. The date on the building is 1880, but the services of
dedication did not occur until September 1883. The organization at
that time was not a wealthy nor numerous one, and it was as a result
of much sacrifice and united endeavor that the debt for the erection of
the building was lifted. The parochial school under the management of
the Sisters has been one of the educational institutions of the city for a
number of years, and about three years ago the new parochial school
was built, a two-story brick school that bears comparison with any of
the school buildings of the city.

The postmasters of Brazil from the time of the founding of the
office to the present, including its history as a village,, town and city,
of which the dates and terms of service can not here be given, but of
which the order of succession is approximately regular, may be
enumerated as follows:

Owen Thorpe, Joseph Hall, Eli Hendrix, David C. Stunkard, Robert
Conley, Edward H. Hussey, Jonathan Croasdale, Edward S. Hussey,
Thomas M. Robertson, John D. Sourwine, Henry D. Bard, John S.
Stough, Harry D. Falls, John C. Gregg, Jr.



Bond Issues Authorized by the Town and City.

School house, $10,000, 10%, issued May, 1868.

Water works, $25,000, 9%, due 1891-95, issued July 1, 1875.
School house, $13,000, 8%, due 1881-85, issued July 1, 1875.
Water works, $3,500, 9%, due 20 years, issued Jan. 1, 1876.
School house $1,500, 8%, due 1886, issued Jan. 1, 1876.
School house, $10,000, 8%, due 1886, issued Sept. 4, 1876.
Funding, $8,000, 8%, due 1897, issued Nov. 1, 1877.
Funding, $1,000, 8%, due 1892, issued Jan. 28, 1882.

Funding school, $10,000, 6%, due 15 years, issued November, 1882-
1584.

Funding school, $10,000, 6%. due 15 years, issued Nov. 1, 1886.
Funding water works, $3,000, 4%, due 1896, issued July 8, 1891.
Funding water works, $4,000, 6%, due 1896, issued July 6, 1892.
Funding water works, $4,000, 6%, due 1899, issued July 1, 1893.
Funding water works, $4,000, 6%, due 1904, issued July 1, 1894.

Water works improv., $25,000, 6%, due 20 years, issued May 21,
1895.

Meridian school, $15,000, 6%, due 20 years, issued May 21, 1895.
Funding water works, $4,000, 6%, due 1905, issued July 3, 1895.
Funding water works, $3,000, 6%, due 1906, issued Jan. 1, 1896.
Water works, $6,000, 6%, due 1906, issued Sept. 1, 1896.
Funding school, $8,000, 6%, due 20 years, issued Nov. 1, 1897.
School, $4,500, 6%, due 1918, issued Feb. 1, 1898.

Funding school, $4,000, 6%, due 12 years, issued June 1, 1898.
Funding school, $3,000, 4%, due 1915, issued July 1, 1899.
Funding school, $10,000, 4%, due 1922, issued 1902.

The school city of Brazil has issued bonds to the amount of
$36,000, the first issue of $20,000 in July, 1906, and the second of



$16,000, in June, 1907. They are four percents, short term bonds, and
$8,000 of the second issue has been paid (June, 1909)

The outstanding bonded debt of the city of Brazil is $69,500, being
divided—Water works, $25,000, and school bonds,

Masonic Organizations.

Brazil Lodge No. 264, F. & A. M., organized 1859, charter members
24, James M. Oliver W. M., Edward S. Hussey secretary. Present
members 280, D. W. Brattin W. M., Melvin Houk secretary.

Centennial Lodge No. F. & A. M., organized 1876, charter members
20, Edward S. Hussey W. M., D. W. Brattin secretary. Present
members 263, Thomas R. Riddell W. M., E. T. Hooper secretary.

Order of the Eastern Star, William M. Black Chapter No. 80,
organized 1888, charter members 30, George S. Raper W. P., Abigail
D. Hawkins W. M., Mary M. Hendrix secretary. Present members 239,
George W. Goucher W. P., — Sampson W. M., Louise Klinger
secretary.

Knights Templar, Brazil Commandery No. 47, organized 1903,
charter members 42, Charles Shannon E. Com., 0. P. Kerr Rec.
Present members 74, H. E. Windland E. Com., E. T. Hooper Rec.

Royal Arch Masons, Brazil Chapter No. 59, organized 1867, Edward
S. Hussey H. P., Jonathan Croasdale secretary. Present members 185,
James Suttie H. P., 0. P. Kerr secretary.

Royal and Select Masters, Brazil Council No. 40, organized 1874,
charter members 9, Edward S. Hussey Thrice Ill. M., Jonathan
Croasdale recorder. Present members 87, C. W. Culbertson Thrice IIl.
M., 0. P. Kerr recorder.

French Masons, Human Rights Lodge No. 322 Co-Masonry, organ-
ized October, 1905, charter members 20, Peter LeQurk P. G. M., Joe
Decamk knight of the seal.

Negro Masons, Saint Paul Lodge No. 24, F. & A. M., organized
1892, charter members 20, William Green W. M., Edwin Moss
secretary. Present members 37, Luther Mitchel W. M., L. B. Russell
secretary.

Knights Templar (negro) Malta Commandery No. 18, organized
1903, charter members 28, L. B. Russell E. C., John Doles secretary.
Present members 28, William Green E. C., L. B. Russell secretary.



Royal and Select Masons (negro), Joshuway Consistory, organized
1906, charter members 10, John F. Doles G. P., A. T. Griffin secretary.

Royal Arch Masons (negro), Imperial Chapter No. 9, organized
1903, charter members 36, Elias Potter H. P., L. B. Russell secretary.
Present members 28, Laurie Brown H. P., L. B. Russell secretary.

Mystic Shrine (negro), Moses Temple, organized 1906, charter
members 10, Elmer Green C. C., Laurie Brown secretary.

Order of the Eastern Star (negro), Nettie Ransford Chapter No. 16,
organized 1893, charter members 16, Maggie Moss R. M., Mary
Waldren secretary. Present members 40, Mattie Baxter R. M., Nancy
York secretary.

Odd Fellows.

Coal City Lodge No. 522, 1. 0. 0. F., organized 1876, Philip
Bluebaker N. G., Thomas Hays secretary. Present members 209,
Henry Hoppis N. G., W. B. Carrigan secretary.

Brazil Lodge No. 215, I. 0. 0. F., charter members 10, Hanson
Britton N. G., James W. Mortimer secretary. Present members 203, R.
M. Hunter N. G., A. A. Spears secretary.

Iron City Encampment No. 118, organized 1872 charter members
15, Thomas E. Hays C. P., Frank B. Sargent scribe. Present members
77, Louis J. Schultz C. P., Charles A. Miller scribe.

Good Will Encampment No. 294, organized 1902, charter
members 68, John Dash C. P., Wesley Stigler secretary. Present
members 69, Henry Haverkamp C. P., John M. Christman secretary.

Mayflower Rebekah Lodge No. 62, organized 1871, charter mem-
bers 18, Edward S. Hussey N. G., C. P. Eppert secretary. Present
members 100, Mrs. Mary Jenkins N. G., Mrs. Melissa McCullough
secretary.

Rebekahs, Silver Leaf Lodge No. 604, organized 1900, charter
members 32, Ella King N. G., W. B. Carrigan secretary. Present mem-
bers 242, Sarah Davis N. G., Ella King secretary.

Brazil Lodge No. I. 0. 0. F., (negro), organized 1880, charter
members 18, Foster Barnett N. G., A. B. York secretary. Present mem-
bers 23, Elmer Green N. G., J. F. Doles secretary.

Household of Ruth No. 391, (negro), organized 1886, charter
members 29, Foster Barnett M. N. G., W. P. Coleman secretary.
Present members 20, Mrs. Hannah Gardner M. N. C., Foster Barnett
secretary.



Knights of Pythias.

Brazil Lodge No. 30, organized 1873, charter members 18, D. W.
Brattin C. C., J. W. Guthrie K. of R. & S. Present members 132, George
Hedges C. C., Thomas Robinson K. of R. & S.

Uniform Rank, Croasdale Company No. 39, organized 1887, charter
members 28, George A. Byrd S. K. captain. Hugh L. Stevenson
secretary Present members 34, C.S. York captain, John Plumb
secretary.

Endowment Rank Section No. organized 1886, charter members
16, J. D Sourwine secretary. Present members 24, William H. Bubb
secretary.

Golden Crown Lodge No 49 (negro) organized 1906, charter mem-
bers 32 L. B. Russell John T. Smith K. of R. & S. Present mem-
bers 24, J W. Holt C.C.,L.B. Russell K of R.&S. & S.

Other Orders

Court of Honor No. 1075, organized 1908, charter members 17,
Birck Wilkie president Irie Eckert secretary. Present members 7, Birck
Wilkie president. George McCormick secretary.

Catholic Knights and Ladies of America, St. Joseph Branch No.
127,organized 1898, charter members 21, Hugh McGurty president,
John E. Fee secretary. Present members, 41, Hugh McGurty president,
James L. Carroll secretary.

Ancient Order of Hibernians, Division No. 2, organized 1905,
charter members 21, Paul Whimsey president, John E. Fee secretary.
Present members 41. Daniel Martin president, John Navin secretary.
Young Men's Institute, organized 1905,charter members 21, Frank W.
Sawar, president, John Whimsey secretary. Present members 72,
Barny Navin president, Leonard McGlew secretary.

Modern Woodmen of America, Brazil Camp No. 3418, organized
1895, charter members 32, David Sherfey V. C., J. E. West secretary.
Present members 184, John H. Yaeger V. C., ]J. E. West secretary.
Knights of Honor, Olive Lodge No. 676, organized 1877, charter
members 10, Henry D. Smith dictator, Peter T. Luther secretary.



Present members 20, Peter T. Luther dictator, William W. Moore,
secretary.

Home Defenders of America, Home No. 1, organized Feb. 17, 1905,
charter members 302, H. B. McMillan defender, Otto Homer secretary.
Present members 610, John M. Row, defender, Harry J. McMillan
secre- tary. Home Defenders of America, Supreme Home, organized
Feb. 17, 1905, Joseph Buckly supreme defender, William White
supreme secre- tary. Present officers, Joseph Buckly S. D., J. A.
Thrasher S. V. D. & M., John A. Morgan S. Sec'y, John C. Kidd S.
Treas., Roy L. Shattuck S. Counc., Dr. Frederick Nussel S. M. E.

Knights and Ladies of Honor, Zenith Lodge No. 269, organized
1881, charter members 25. Brutus Ertish protector, Mrs. Anna Britten
secretary. Present members 217, William F. Sterley protector, Mose
Cook secretary.

Knights and Ladies of Honor, Clay Lodge No. 33. organized 1878,
charter members 30, John Stough protector, Stukely Campbell
secretary. Present members 280, William Spears protector, Sarah
Prather secretary. Knights and Ladies of Security, Brazil Council
No. 366, organized 1895. charter members 90, David Phillips
president, Thomas N. James secretary. Present members Anna
Adylotte president, Thomas N. James secretary. Knights and Ladies
of Security, Clay Council No, 1387. organized 1906, charter members
Sol 11.13. McMillan president, Charles Schultz secretary. Present
members 187, Thomas J. McA dams president, Frank Richman
secretary.

Tribe of Ben Hur, Ruth Court No. 8, organized 1894, charter
members 14, P. T. Winney chief, Sarah C. Prather secretary. Present
members 74, James Evans chief, William P. Luther secretary.

Woodmen of the World, Brazil Camp No. 81, organized 1902,
charter members 20, E. M. Muncie C. C.. Fred Weaver secretary.
Present members 20, D. W. Brattin C. C., G. M. Girton secretary.

Knights of the Maccabees of the World, Brazil Tent No. 84, organ-
ized 1901, charter members 30, Charles Kenton commander, Bert
Holiday secretary. Present members 20, Charles Barnard commander,
J. L. Lam-" bert secretary.  Ancient Order of United Workmen, Brazil
Lodge No. 5, organized 1876, charter members 17, Samuel
Schandelberg secretary. Present members 130, Andrew Volz secretary.

Ladies of the Maccabees, organized 1904, charter members 18,
Mrs. Nina Culbertson commander, Mrs. Mayme Madison secretary.
Present members 27, Mrs. Levina Shaffer commander, Mrs. Alpha
Moore secretary. Benevolent and Protective Order of Elks, Brazil



Lodge No. 762, organized 1902, charter members So, D. W. Brattin F.
R., Samuel M. Grimes secretary. Present members 195, C. M. Turner
E. R., C. W. Culbertson, secretary.

Order of Railway Conductors. Brazil Division No. 547, organized
1909, charter members 22, C. H. Wilbert C. C., Frank L. Richmond
secretary. Royal Neighbors of America, Eureka No. 2516, organized
1901, charter members 28, Mrs. Florence Hadley S. 0., Mrs. Sarah
Oswalt S. Rec, Present members 31, Mrs. Florence Hadley S. 0., Mrs.
Hester Berry S. Rec.

Fraternal Order of Eagles, Brazil Lodge No. 274, organized 1902,
charter members 774, Littleton L. Reffett president, S, Walter Lee
secre- tary. Present members 200, Frank Vanes president, George E.
Law secretary.

Grand Army of the Republic, General Canby Post No. 2, organized
1881, charter members 22, Samuel F. Armstrong commander, W. D.
McCullough adjutant. Present members 35, Lesley B. Shaw
commander, H. L. Bynum adjutant.

Women's Relief Corps, G. A. R., General Canby No. 3, organized
1889. charter members 24 Mrs Abigail Hawkins D. P., Mrs. Helen
Sourwine D .S.Pre sent members 34, Mrs. Myra Pierce D. P., Mrs.
Pauline Hartly D S.

Protected Home Circle, Brazil Circle No, 701, organized 7904, char-
ter members 24, Guy White president, Mary E. Wolf secretary. Present
members 24, R. F. Wolf president. Mary F. Wolf secretary,

Improved Order of Red Men, Indianola Tribe No. 61, organized 1878,
charter members 93. N. Y. Keasy sachem, Milton Draper chief of
records. Present members 350, William H. Bush sachem, Henry Wilcox
chief of records. Degree of Pocahontas, Peoria Council No. 64,
organized 1895, char- ter members 31, Kate McBride Pocahontas,
John M. Elliott chief of records. Present members 40, Martha Wellings
Poc., Mrs. Charles Walton chief of records.

Indianola Haymakers Association, No. 61 1/2, organized 1894,
char- ter members 89, Charles Havkins chief haymaker, Milton Draper
K. of bundles. Present officers, William H. Bush chief baymaker, Henry
Wilcox K. of B. Independent Order of Foresters, No. 1234, organized
1895, 0. C. Hawkins C. R., T. M. Weaver secretary. Present officers,
Robin Stunk- ard C. R., Oscar Moudy secretary.

Officers of Town of Brazil.

First Officers of Town, 1866 to 1867:—Trustees, John G. Ackelmire,
Jacob Thomas, Thomas Desart: Eli Hendrix. treasurer; D. W. Bridges,



clerk; Samuel Hollingsworth, assessor; Samuel Hollingsworth,
marshal. Tax levy 20 cents on the $ 100; poll tax 25 cents.

1867 :—Trustees, Thomas Desart, John G. Ackelmire, Jonathan
Croasdale; D. W. Bridges, clerk; I. W. Sanders, marshal; Eli Hendrix,
treasurer. Tax levy 25 cents on the $100; poll tax 25 cents.

1868 :—Trustees, John G. Ackelmire, Elisha Adamson, Thomas
Des- art. Adam son moved out of town; W. R. Torbert appointed
trustee; D. W. Bridges, clerk; Eli Hendrix, treasurer; John Stough and
Calvin Reed, marshal. Tax levy 50 cents on the $ $100; poll tax $1.00.

1869 :—Trustees, Win. R. Torbert, Archibald Love, Elias Righy; D.
W. Bridges, clerk; T. M. Robertson, treasurer; I. W. Sanders, mar-
shal. Tax levy 60 cents on the $100; poll tax $1.00.

1870:—Trustees, John G. Ackelmire, John L. Webster, E. Mont-
gomery; D. W. Bridges, clerk; George P. Stone, treasurer; J. R.
Painter, marshal. Tax levy 75 cents on the $100; poll tax $1.25.

1871 :—Trustees, E. W. Smith, A. Love, John McDowell, James
Kellar, George P. Shaw; E. Montgomery, clerk; Jacob Thomas, treas-
urer; James R. Painter, marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100 poll tax
25c.

1872 :—Trustees, J. C. Gifford, Major Collins, James Kellar, N. T.
Keasey, D. D. Reed; F. M. Howard, clerk; Jacob Thomas, treasurer;
James R. Painter, marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax
Officers of Brazil City.

1873 :—John G. Ackelmire, mayor; councilmen, David Klingler,
French Triplett, A. R. Collins, A. W. Turner, John Stough, Dan Reed;
Joseph L. Hussey, city clerk; John Stewart, treasurer; Frank McBride,
marshal. Tax levy $1.25 on the $100; poll tax 75 cents.

1874:—John G. Ackelmire, mayor; councilmen, David Klingler, A.
S. Hill, John Stough, James A. Newton, John McDowell, George Ely;
Joseph L. Hussey, clerk; John Stewart, treasurer; Frank McBride, mar-
shal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax. $1.50.

1875 :—Simon Herr, mayor; councilmen, D. Klingler, A. W. Turner,
Geo. Jones, John McDowell, Geo. Ely, James A. Newton; A. L. Sowers,
clerk; J. H. Torbert, marshal; M. Law, treasurer. Tax levy, $1.45 .45
on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1876 :—Simon Herr, mayor; councilmen, James McDonald, Samuel
G. Biddle, Hezekiah Wheeler, Orville Calhoun, A. W. Turner, D. Kling
ler A. L. Sowers, clerk; J. H. Torbert, marshal; M. Law, treasurer. Tax
levy, $1.45 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.



1877 :—E. S. Holliday, mayor; councilmen, Frank J. Wehrle, Jacob
Thomas, Jos. C. Gifford, H. Wheeler, James McDonald, Samuel G. Bid-
die; L. 0. Schultz, clerk; J. H. Torbert, marshal; M. Law, treasurer. Tax
levy $1.50 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1878 :—E. S. Holliday, mayor; councilmen, J. C. Gifford, H.
Wheeler, F. J. Wehrle, Jacob Thomas, J. A. Newton, P. F. Sharp; L. 0.
Schultz, clerk; J. H. Torbert, marshal; M. Law and Joseph E. Sherfey,
treasurer. Tax levy $1.50 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1879 :—E. S. Holliday, mayor; councilmen, H. Wheeler, J. P. Hy-
sung, Alex. Haggart, Jas. A. Newton, J. C. Gifford, P. F. Sharp; L. 0.
Schultz, clerk; E. Rigby, treasurer; James H. Torbert, marshal. Tax
levy $1.50 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1880 ;—E. S. Holliday, mayor; councilmen, John Britton, P. F.
Sharp, Daniel Hunt, J. P. Hysung, Alex. Haggart, J. C. Gifford; L. 0.
Schultz, clerk; E. Rigby, treasurer; James H. Torbert, marshal. Tax
levy $1.50 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1881 :—E. C. Kilmer, mayor; councilmen, Robert S. Stewart,
Charles B. Reddie, Heman Menough, J. C. Gifford, Daniel Hunt, John
Britton, and James H. Mercer, in place of Daniel Hunt, who moved
away; L. 0. Schultz, treasurer; George Law, clerk; Francis M. McBride,
marshal.

1882 :—Elias C. Kilmer, mayor; councilmen, C. B. Reddie, James
H. Mercer, R. S. Stewart, Thomas Kerins, D. B. McCrimmon, J. C.
Gifford; George E. Law, clerk; L. 0. Schultz, treasurer; F. M. McBride,
marshal.

1883 :—Wm. R. Torbert, mayor; councilmen, W. D. McCullough, J.
M. Fast, E. W. Smith, Thomas Kerins, Jeff Baughman, D. B.
McCrimmon; George B. Law, clerk; L. 0. Schultz, treasurer; F. M.
McBride, marshal. Tax levy $1.40 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1884 :—Wm. R. Torbert, mayor; councilmen, W. D. McCullough, J.
M. Fast, E. W. Smith, Thomas Kerins, Jeff Baughman, Daniel Hunt;
George B. Law, clerk; L. 0. Schultz, treasurer; F. M. McBride, marshal.
Tax levy $1.40 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1885 :—D. W. Brattin, mayor; councilmen, W. J. Wolfe, J. C.
Gifford, William Lynch, Daniel Hunt, Thos. Kerins, W. D. McCullough;
George B. Law, clerk; L. 0. Schultz, treasurer; Holton Henderson,
marshal. Tax levy $1.40 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1886 :—D. W. Brattin, mayor; councilmen, John N. Toner, Thomas
Kerins, Daniel Hunt, John Lynch, W. J. Wolfe, J. C. Gifford; George E.



Law, clerk; L. 0. Schultz, treasurer; Holton Henderson, marshal. Tax
levy $1.40 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1887 :—E. S. Holliday, mayor; councilmen, S. D. Black, John N.
Toner, Jeff Baughman, Win. Lynch, Daniel Hunt, Thos. Kerins; George
B. Law, clerk; F. M. McBride, marshal; L. 0. Schultz and George
Andrews, treasurer. Tax levy $1.40 on the $ioo; poll tax $1.50.

1888 :—E. S. Holliday, mayor; councilmen, S. D. Black, J. Baugh-
man, Win. Lynch, Thomas B. Hayes, C. H. Russe, Thomas Barrowman;
J. Gillen, clerk; F. M. McBride, marshal; George Andrews and Thomas
Henderson, treasurer. Tax levy $1.40 on the $100; pOll tax $1.50.

1889:—Jacob Herr, mayor; councilmen, Robert Stewart, David
Wetnight, John Scofield, C. H. Russe, Thomas Barrowman, Thomas E.
Hayes; Eugene C. Callahan, marshal; J. Gillen, clerk; Thomas Hen-
derson, treasurer. Tax levy $1.40 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1890:—Jacob Herr, mayor; councilmen, Thomas Barrowman, Jos.
Salladay, J. Gillen, R. S. Stewart, John Scofield, David Wetnight: Oscar
Thomas. clerk ; Thomas Henderson, treasurer ; E. C. Callahan,
marshal. tax levy $1.40 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1891 W. D McCullough mayor councilmen Jos. L. Cook, Wm. W.
Moore John Scofield Thomas Barrowman, J Gillen Jos Salladay Oscar
Thomas clerk; Thomas I Henderson , treasurer Levi Louderback,
Marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1892 W. D. McCullough,, mayor councilmen E.S. Holliday, J. M.
Fast,W.W. Moore, John Scofield, J. C. Gifford, Jos. L, Cook; John
McDonald,clerk Thomas Henderson,treasurer Levi Louderback, marshal
lax levy$1.00 the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1893 W.D. McCullough mayor Councilmen E.S. Holliday, J.M. Fast,
W.W. Moore , John Scofield,].C.Gifford, Jos.L.Cook; John McDonald
clerk; Thomas Henderson treasurer Levi Louderback marshal. Tax levy
$1.00 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1894 W. D.McCullough Mayor councilmen J.C. Mofford, Wm. H.
Bubb, ElImer P. Collins,J M Fast, ].C.Gifford, E. S.Holliday; John
McDonald clerk; Thomas Henderson treasurer, Levi Louderback,
marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1895 :—Alvin T. Hirt, mayor, and W. H. Bubb, mayor ; councilmen.
C.M. Mofford, W. J. Menough, ElImer P. Collins, J M. Fast, J. C. Gifford,
E. S. Holliday ; John McDonald, clerk, Thomas Henderson, treasurer;
Levi Louderback, marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax

1896 :—W. H. Bubb and D. W. Brattin, mayors; councilmen, Jos. L.
Clingerman, Isaac Harger, Joseph Crooks, C. M. Mofford, Elmer P.



Collins, John Rider; Councilman Collins resigned June 16, 1896, and
Wm. 0. Hamilton elected John McDonald, clerk ; Thomas Henderson.
treasurer; Levi Louderback, marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll
tax $1.50. 1897 :—W. H. Bubb and D. W. Brattin, mayors;
councilmen, Jos. L.Clingerman, Isaac Harger, Joseph Crooks, C. M.
Mofford, ElImer P. Collins, John Rider, Wm. 0. Hamilton ; Hamilton
resigned May 4, 1897, and David Phillips was elected ; John McDonald,
clerk ; Thomas Hen— derson, treasurer; Levi Louderback, marshal.
Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax $1.50. 1898 :—D.W. Brattin,
mayor; councilmen, I..S. Harger, W. H. Plumb, Joseph Crooks, H. B.
McMillan, Geo. W. Hendrixson, John Rider. The 4th ward added to the
city August 9, 1898 : Ross M. Stunkard and W. D. McCullough
appointed councilmen. John McDonald, clerk: Thomas Henderson,
treasurer; Levi Louderback, marshal. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll
tax $1.50.

1899 :—Homer M. Bailey, mayor ; councilmen. I. S. Harger, W.H.
Plumb, Joseph Crooks, H. B. McMillan, Geo. W. Hendrixson, John
Rider, Ross M.Stunkard, W.D.McCullough; J.W. Williams clerk Wm. C.
Prince, marshal ; D.H.Cutshall, treasurer. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100;
poll tax $1.50.

1900:—Homer M. Bailey. mayor ; councilmen, Paul Wimsey.
Wesley Reed, W. H. Dodge, H. B. McMillan, W.H.Plumb, R.M.H.Britton,
Ross Stunkard, Geo. Hendrixson; J. W. Williams, clerk; Wm. C. Prince,
marshal; D. H. Cutshall, treasurer. Tax levy $1.00; poll tax $1.50.

1901 :—Homer M. Bailey, mayor; councilmen, Paul Wimsey,
Wesley Reed, W. H. Dodge, H. B. McMillan, W. H. Plumb, R. M. H.
Britton, Ross Stunkard, Geo. Hendrixson; J. W. Williams, clerk; Wm.
C. Prince, marshal; D. H. Cutshall, treasurer. Tax levy $1.25 on the
$100; poll tax $1.50.

1902 :—Homer M. Bailey, mayor; councilmen, Thomas Henderson,
W. H. Porter, R. M. H. Britton, J. M. Apple, Leonard Rardin, E. M.
Hudson, S. F. Gonter, B. A. Scofield; J. W. Williams, clerk; W. C.
Prince, marshal; D. H. Cutshall, treasurer. Tax levy $1.25 on the
$100; poll tax $1.50.

1903 :—Wm. W. Moore, mayor; councilmen, Thomas Henderson,
W. H. Porter, R. M. H. Britton, J. M. Apple, Leonard Rardin, E. M.
Hudson, S. F. Gonter, W. H. Bubb; F. K. DeArmey, clerk; D. H.
Cutshall, treasurer; Ben Schrepferman, marshal. Tax levy $1.50 on the
$100; poll tax $1.50.

1904 :—Wm. W. Moore, mayor; councilmen, J. M. Apple, T. B.
Petrie, S. W. Williams, E. M. Hudson, Lewis McNutt, J. J. Jones, W. D.



Wolfe, Daniel Dial; F. K. DeArmey, clerk; D. H. Cutshall, treasurer;
Ben Schrepferman, marshal. Tax levy $1.50 on the $100; poll tax
$1.50.

1905 :—Roy L. Shattuck, mayor; councilmen, J. M. Apple, T. B.
Petrie, S. W. Williams, E. M. Hudson, Lewis McNutt, J. J. Jones, W. D.
Wolfe, Daniel Dial; F. K. DeArmey, clerk; D. H. Cutshall, treasurer;
Ben Schrepferman, marshal. Tax levy $1.25 on the $100; poll tax
$1.50.

1906:—Roy L. Shattuck, mayor; councilmen, Wm. Leavitt, ]J. M.
Hoskins, J. J. Jones, W. H. Zimmerman, W. J. Menough, J. H. Lewis,
resigned May, 1906, S. P. Louderback appointed; F. K. DeArmey,
clerk; W. S. Cook, (until September 1, 1906), H. B. McMillan, marshal;
A. S. Decker, treasurer. Tax levy $1.25 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1907:—Roy L. Shattuck, mayor; councilmen, Wm. Leavitt, J. M.
Hoskins, J. J. Jones, W. H. Zimmerman, S. P. Louderback, W. J.
Menough; F. K. DeArmey, clerk; H. B. McMillan, marshal; A. S. Decker,
treasurer. Tax levy $100; poll tax $1.50.

1908 :—Roy L. Shattuck, mayor; councilmen, Wm. Leavitt, J. M.
Hoskins, J. J. Jones, W. H. Zimmerman, S. P. Louderback, W. J.
Menough; F. K. DeArmey, clerk; H. B. McMillan, marshal; A. S. Decker,
treasurer. Tax levy $1.00 on the $100; poll tax $1.50.

1909 :—Roy L. Shattuck, mayor; councilmen, Wm. Leavitt, Sr., J.
M. Hoskins, J. J. Jones, S. P. Louderback, W. J. Menough, W. H.
Zimmerman. W. H. Zimmerman died November 22, 1908, and Wm. C.
Hall was elected December 15, 1908, to serve for the unexpired term.
F. K. DeArmey, clerk; A. S. Decker, treasurer; H. B. McMillan, marshal,
resigned January 5, 1909, and James Bain appointed marshal for the
unexpired term; George A. Fletcher, city civil engineer and
superintendent of water works; James Q. Layne, chief of fire
department; Henry Knecht, street commissioner; Jacob Herr, city
attorney; Dr. F. C. Dilley, secretary board of health.

[Note: we have corrected some grammar and spelling for
FamRoots.org]



